
 

City of Corunna 
Regular Council Meeting 

Monday, June 1, 2009 
 
Present: Kerridge, Mehigh, Jessen, Johnson, Haskins, Hall.  
 
Absent: Spring (excused). 
 
Guests: Joe Sawyer, City Manager; Donna Kerridge; Helen Granger, The Independent; 

Theresa Pickler; Bill Lulham, Jr.; Judy Horton; Janet Washburn; Bob & Sharon 
Morehouse; Gary Schooley; Gene Sanderson; Officer Nick Chiros, Police 
Department; Keith Johnson; Rachael Wineland; John & Jennifer Lawson; Bill 
Striggow; Donald Butcher, Sr.; Marlene Cellick; Kim Eisenbeis; Lyman Martin; 
Meredith Thompson; Janine Kingsbury; Nicole Raymond, The Argus Press; Clark 
Long; Angie Snyder; Clayton Breiler; Gary Schulz; Gene Sanderson; John Dowen; 
Jackie Tomlinson; and other concerned citizens. 

 
The meeting was called to order in the council chambers located in Corunna City Hall by Mayor    
 Kerridge at 7:00 p.m. 
 
MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS REGULAR MEETING:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to  
 approve the previous regular meeting minutes dated May 18, 2009 as presented. 

Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Jessen, Johnson, Haskins, Hall, Mehigh. 
 No: None. 
    Motion CARRIED 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to approve the agenda by moving Item  

No. 1 to Item No. 3, moving Item No. 3 to Item No. 4, adding and moving Item No. 4) 
Prisoner Re-Entry Initiative Presentation to Item No. 1and adding Item No. 1A) Consider 
Excusal of Councilperson Spring from the June 1, 2009 Council Meeting. 
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Johnson, Haskins, Hall, Mehigh, Jessen. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

  
APPROVAL OF VENDOR DISBURSEMENTS:  Jessen moved, Hall seconded to approve the  

vendor disbursements dated May 28, 2009 as presented.   
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Johnson, Haskins, Hall, Mehigh, Jessen. 
No: None.   

 Motion CARRIED 
 
 
 
 



 

CALL TO AUDIENCE:  Keith Johnson, 211 Hastings Street, voiced his thoughts on the  
casino building in McCurdy Park and advised it is not a historical building.  It has some 
nostalgia for a few but he did not think he would live long enough to see the building become 
a historic proportion.  Most of the homes in the city are older than that building.  The building 
was used by the county extension agency to use for the 4-H association and it was given to 
them to use because the city was unable to keep the building in good repair given the expense 
of the upkeep.  The city would not have rented out the building for $1.00 a year had it been an 
asset.  The county extension agency was glad to give the building back to the city because of 
the upkeep expenses, heating and cooling, and non-handicap accessible.  He further stated 
poor management and neglect by the city is the cause of the demise and he took his share of 
the blame for it.  The city council needs to look at the books and if taxpayer money is going to 
be used, the taxpayers should see a return on their money.  He has heard for years that the 
people who use the building spend their money in the city, and that may be true, but that 
money was never put towards the casino.  People have to remember that nostalgia does not 
pay the bills and council has to vote how the people in town want them to vote. 
 
Clayton Breiler, 12585 Peet Road, Chesaning, stated he is not a citizen in this town but he 
grew up and went to school here.  When he was born, he lived in the house that was in 
McCurdy Park.  The city got rid of the house, bear pen, and fountain that were in the park.  
He asked if the building would be boarded up or torn down.  If the building is torn down, 
someone will come along and want to build something new.  He suggested repairing what the 
city has.  Just because there were mistakes in the past does not mean that it should be torn 
down. 
 
Janet Washburn, Owosso, advised she agrees to some degree what Mr. Johnson stated.  She 
lives in Owosso but her heart will be in Corunna forever and believes she has a vested interest 
in the city.  She feels the community has come to a turning point.  She believes there are some 
people here tonight that might be interested in renting the community center if repairs are 
done to make it usable.  She feels there is some money in this years or next years budget that 
could be found.  If someone has a problem finding it, there are probably a couple of people 
here that could take a look at the budget to find it.  She suggested putting a committee 
together to explore the possibilities for the community center and to find out how many 
people would like to volunteer to come up with a plan other than the rendering that Mr. 
Sawyer has.  She stated the people should decide if they want the community center to stand 
or fall.  There are people who want it torn down and she felt that would be horrible.  The 
Corunna Public Schools used the building in 1936 as their gym and the fair board came along 
later and signed a 50-year agreement.  She would like to see the council put a committee 
together including people who do not live in the community.  She suggested putting 
something on the ballot in the fall to find out how many people in the community are willing 
to support the community center. 
 
Rachael Wineland, 470 E. McArthur Street, stated she felt it is the community’s  
responsibility to keep the park beautiful and open to the public.  She went to the playscape the 
other day and is amazed at the support it received when it was built.  People came from all 
over Shiawassee County to help and she felt the same thing could be done with the 
community center.  The city needs to be careful about not excluding people who live outside 



 

the community because it will take everyone to keep the building open.  There have been 
many things happen in the park that have included people from outside the community.  
Grants and fundraising should be looked at as well as seeking donations and volunteer labor.  
The community center can be seen from the hockey rink, the new volleyball court, and sled 
hill.  There were tons of people in the park yesterday and it was good to see families enjoying 
the park together.  It would be sad to see the building rot and fall apart.  She is committed to 
doing whatever it takes to keep the community center open. 
 
Gary Schooley, 301 Ferry Street, stated the city has some property on Parmenter Road it is 
not using that could be sold.  The city just bought some property in the third ward that God 
only knows what it will be used for.  He further stated the city needs to get out of the real 
estate business and get back into city business. 
 
John Lawson, 503 N. Brady Street, stated he has been a life long resident of the city and 
brought his wife from Flint to live here and she loves it here.  He felt the community center is 
an asset and until a few days ago, he thought the opposite but after going on the city website 
and seeing the plan that Jed Dingens drew up, which could be phased in over time.  He would 
be willing to sit on a committee and do whatever it takes including swinging a hammer to fix 
the community center.  He further stated he thought Joe Sawyer has done a hell of a job for 
the community and asking Mr. Dingens to put a plan together is forward thinking and the city 
needs to do more of that. 
 
Sharon Morehouse, 542 Converse Street, stated she would like to see the city start prioritizing 
because the park looks like heck right now and Mr. Dunchock’s property looks better than the 
city’s property does.  The city needs to hire the people back that the city laid off and make the 
city look pleasing to the eye.   
 
Janine Kingsbury, 6421 E. M-21, asked the city council if they would give her the 
information needed to restore and upgrade the community center such as pricing on the 
drainage issue, roof, insulation, windows, bathrooms, and handicap accessibility if she is able 
to organize a group of volunteers who are willing to donate their time and resources to make 
the necessary changes to the community center.  She further asked the city council if they 
would be willing to come up with the appropriate funding to keep the community center open. 
 
Jackie Tomlinson, 180 Sylvia Drive, stated at the last meeting it was brought up that it would 
cost $100,000 to fix the community center and asked if that figure was set in stone.  She 
further stated she was not asking the city council to hand over $100,000 but was asking for 
the council’s support so a committee can be put together.  Right now, everyone’s hands are 
tied since the council has said no.  The committee needs the council’s support to move 
forward. 
 
Gene Sanderson, 609 S. Shiawassee Street, stated it was good to hear people wanting to 
volunteer and do fundraising, but in the end like everything else, it will fall back on the 
taxpayers.  Half of the people living in Corunna are renters and they do not care.  It is up to 
the city council to consider the people who live in the city.  The city could end up with half of 
the work being done and it will be left up to the city to finish the job and it is not worth it.  It 



 

has been a good old building and has served its time, but it is time to get rid of it and move 
on.  The park is not being taken care of properly now and the community center has been 
neglected for years.       

 
PRISONER RE-ENTRY INITIATIVE PRESENTATION:  Lyman Martin from the Michigan  

Department of Corrections stated he was at the meeting to introduce the Michigan Prisoner 
Re-entry Initiative.  He introduced Marlene Cellick, Kim Eisenbeis and Meredith Thompson.  
Ms. Cellick explained she coordinates the Michigan Prisoner Re-entry Initiative in 
Shiawassee County.  Prisoners being released are given an evaluation to detect substance 
abuse, mental health, housing, clothing, job training and placement.  The program has run for 
two years in Shiawassee County, but it has taken time to inform the residents in the county on 
what is being done.  There is a transition team that meets with a prisoner prior to being 
released.  Once they get out, it is our responsibility to give them a second chance whether you 
believe that or not.  She asked the council as community members to find out what is going 
on in their community because the people being released will be community members.  Mr. 
Martin stated people being released may be your neighbor whether you know it or not.  If 
anyone has any questions, they can reach him at 743-2470.  He further stated the program in 
this county is for the people who live in this county.  He invited council to come to one of his 
board meetings so council can see everyone coming together. 

 
CONSIDER EXCUSAL OF COUNCILPERSON SPRING FROM THE JUNE 1, 2009 COUNCIL  

MEETING:  Johnson moved, Hall seconded to excuse Councilperson Spring from the June 1, 
2009 council meeting due to being out of state.   

  Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Haskins, Hall, Mehigh, Jessen, Johnson. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED 
 
7:15 P.M. PUBLIC HEARING TO RECEIVE COMMENTS ON EDF GRANT APPLICATION  

FOR PURCHASE OF BRADY’S PARKING LOT:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to 
leave the regular council meeting and enter into a public hearing to receive comments on the 
EDF Grant Application for purchase of Brady’s Parking Lot.  

 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Haskins, Hall, Mehigh, Jessen, Johnson. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED  Time was 7:35 p.m. 
 

Mr. Sawyer stated the city received a community block grant from the state 20 years ago to 
create an economic development fund board and revolving loan fund.  Over the years, monies 
were issued to area businesses.  When the city was classified as a low moderate income 
community, the state allowed the city to issue grants from this fund for projects that would 
benefit the community.  The committee by statute is comprised of one councilperson, the city 
clerk/treasurer, city manager and two member-at-large positions.  The owners of the Brady 
property have agreed to sell the property to the DDA for $150,000.  The DDA has asked the 
EDF board for $50,000 to purchase the Brady’s parking lot.  The EDF board has approved the 
application but a public hearing is needed to receive comments from the public, which will 



 

then be forwarded to the state for final approval.  Bill Striggow, 607 E. King Street, asked 
how many parking spaces should the Brady building have and why the council would want to 
make a conforming building a non-conforming building.  Ms. Lawson advised her job is to 
make sure everyone meets parking requirements.  She researched the city code which clearly 
states that a property has the right to have parking adjacent to the building in the form of an 
agreement.  The Brady building will always have an agreement or deed restriction so it will 
always meet the parking requirements.  Mr. Striggow asked if the city can maintain the 
parking lot because it cannot take care of the library sidewalk or the cemetery.  Mr. Sawyer 
advised the DDA will be responsible for the parking lot.  Mr. Striggow stated it is time the 
city council takes a look at what they are doing, start doing their job, and stop taking advice 
from the DDA.  The council’s job is not just to pay the bills; it also needs to look at what is 
going on in the community.  Janet Washburn asked if the council has to approve the EDF 
fund expenditures.  Ms. Lawson advised the city is following the state statute requirements.  
The state is the final approval body and they can change the rules.  Johnson moved, Haskins 
seconded to leave the public hearing and return to regular council session. 

 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Haskins, Hall, Mehigh,, Jessen, Johnson. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED  Time was 7:49 p.m. 
 
CONSIDER APPOINTMENT OF MARY DUMOND TO THE CORUNNA HISTORICAL  

COMMISSION:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to appoint Mary Dumond to the Corunna 
Historical Commission serving at the pleasure of the council for an indefinite term.   
Roll call vote: 
Yes: Hall, Jessen, Haskins, Mehigh, Johnson. 
No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED 

 
CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 060109-01, RESOLUTION CHANGING THE NON-PARTISAN  

NOMINATING PETITION DEADLINE TO COINCIDE WITH THE STATE OF 
MICHIGAN NOMINATING PETITION DEADLINE:  Johnson moved, Jessen seconded to 
approve the following Resolution No. 060109-01, Resolution Changing the Non-Partisan 
Nominating Petition Deadline to coincide with the State of Michigan Nominating Petition 
Deadline: 

 RESOLUTION NO. 060109-01 
 

CITY OF CORUNNA 
(Shiawassee County, Michigan) 

  
RESOLUTION CHANGING THE NON-PARTISAN 

NOMINATING PETITION DEADLINE TO COINCIDE WITH 
THE STATE OF MICHIGAN NOMINATING PETITION DEADLINE 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Corunna non-partisan nominating petition deadline as printed in 
Section 3.15 of the City of Corunna City Charter presently states “no later than 4:00 o’clock 
P.M., E.S.T., on the seventh Monday prior to the date of the city election”; and  



 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Corunna desires to change the non-partisan 
nominating petition deadline to coincide with the State of Michigan nominating petition 
deadline, which is “the twelfth Tuesday preceding the odd-year November election” as 
permitted by MCL 168.644f and 168.644e of Act 116 of 1954 and MCL 117.3b(3) of Act 279 
of 1909; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that nominating petitions for the City November 
General Election shall be filed with the Clerk no later than 4:00 o’clock P.M., E.S.T., on the 
twelfth Tuesday preceding the odd-year November election and is hereby adopted as 
recommended. 

 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 

 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Hall, Haskins, Mehigh, Jessen, Johnson. 
 No: None. 
   Motion CARRIED 
     
CALL TO AUDIENCE:  Don Butcher, 202 N. Comstock Street, stated he spent a lot of time in the  

casino when he was in high school.  He has a lot of memories and would like to see it made 
sound.  He suggested putting together a committee to see what can be done with the building.  
He felt people would donate money to restore the building. 
 
Gene Sanderson, 609 S. Shiawassee Street, stated things are not going to get any better for a 
few years.  If the donations or volunteers do not come in, the council should not put the 
community center on the people who live in Corunna.  He asked why the people in Corunna 
should pay for something that everyone in Shiawassee County uses.  It is time to face the 
facts of what is going on in the country today.   
 
Clayton Breiler, 12585 Peet Road, Chesaning, stated if the council relies on what the 
gentleman just said then the city should think about what it does not have.  The playscape and 
Larry Frank field were built because this community volunteers.  Volunteers are hard working 
people and if they say they are going to do something, he knows they will finish the job.  
Walmart is involved in the community and they might be willing to help.  He further stated 
there are skilled people out of work and they might be willing to volunteer. 
 
Angie Snyder, 500 N. Brady Street, stated she has lived in the city for 31 years and the city 
has a lot of volunteers.  Home Depot does a lot of community projects and suggested applying 
there.  Since there is nothing handicap accessible in town, her family has to go outside the 
community and pay for using a facility.  People would use the facility if the facility was 
usable.   
 
Gene Sanderson, 609 S. Shiawassee Street, stated he did not think Meijers or anyone else will 
hand Corunna a $75,000 check to tear down and build a new community center or repair the 
community center.  It is going to fall back on the taxpayers before it is all said and done.   
 



 

Keith Johnson, 211 Hastings Street, stated volunteers are fine, but Heritage Park waited two 
years for the stair steps to be put in.  If he had a dollar for every time someone stopped and 
told him they would volunteer, he would be a rich man because people do not do it or stick 
around.  The casino does not need a hammer.  It needs a backhoe to dig around the building 
so it will drain properly.  The building has big problems and needs big money.  It also needs 
to pay for itself and he does not want the council to use his tax dollars if he is not going to get 
a return on that building.  He further stated the city’s laid off workers need their jobs back 
instead of worrying about the casino. 
 
Sharon Morehouse, 542 Converse Street, stated when Mt. McCurdy was built, there were 
volunteers who did landscaping and a month later it looked awful.   
 
Janet Washburn, Owosso, stated there were a lot of issues brought up tonight.  She gave a 
brief history of the community center.  She thanked Ms. Lawson and Mr. Sawyer for trying to 
get an energy grant for the community center.  Ms. Washburn further stated volunteers are the 
life blood of this city and without them, the city would not have the park look like it does 
now.       
 
Jackie Tomlinson, 180 Sylvia Drive, stated the people here tonight are not asking the council 
or the city for money.  All of Shiawassee County uses the park and there are people here 
tonight who want permission to form a committee to see if grants are available or fundraising 
can be done.  She asked council if they would deny them that and if they were, she questioned 
whether they were doing their job.  Councilperson Jessen advised Ms. Tomlinson that no one 
has ever been denied from putting a committee together.  If you want to form a committee, do 
it.  As far as volunteers go, great idea but it will not do any good unless there is money for 
material.  Get the money and the city will do something.   
 
Janine Kingsbury, 6421 E. M-21, asked the city council if they would be willing to turn the 
building over to a group or organization that would make the restoration improvements and 
the money that the city would spend on the demolition of that building.  Councilperson Jessen 
stated he would not spend any money for demolition either.  Right now, the council does not 
want to spend any money on the building.  Ms. Kingsbury stated so the building will be 
allowed to rot and fall apart.  Councilperson Jessen stated he is not going to put any money 
into the building and if it was up to him, he would give the building to her right now. 
 
Gene Sanderson, 609 S. Shiawassee Street, asked when a final answer will be made on what 
will be done with the building.  He asked if people will find out in November when it is on 
the ballot or if a decision will be made now so the city can move on with some of the other 
things that need to be done in the city.  Councilperson Johnson stated when it is her turn to 
speak, she will give him an answer.     
 
Bob Morehouse, 542 Converse Street, stated according to the news tonight, the state is in bad 
shape.  He stated the Lebowsky Center in Owosso is at a standstill because it appears there is 
a lack of funds.  Owosso is also concerned about Holmon Pool.  The problem today is the lack 
of funds and the volunteers are also not there.  The responsibility of the building is on 
Corunna and the taxpayers of Corunna.   



 

 
John Dowen, 1410 E. Hibbard Road, stated it sounds like the older gentlemen do not have a 
lot of faith in the community.  They should take a drive to the library in Vernon which was 
built with volunteer labor and donated materials.  All of this negativity is not what built this 
country, state or city.  He further stated as far as the sled hill not being maintained, anyone in 
their right mind would not let someone plant a garden on their property because they know 
they would have to take care of it.  If someone offered to do something to his basement walls, 
he would tell them to come on over.  You have to think before you accept.   
 
Theresa Pickler, Durand, stated she has never lived in the City of Corunna.  She has lived in 
Caledonia Township and she has volunteered for many years.  She volunteers for everything 
whether it is the school, the township or the city.  She is here tonight because she cares and 
will do whatever it takes to try and save the community center.  If you look back at history, 
people come together when times are hard. 
 
Charles Butcher. 2459 Copas Road, Owosso, stated he owns property at 317 S. McDonnell 
Street.  He would like to see the community center put to use for wedding receptions, 
basketball games, conferences, meetings or seminars.  This community needs a building of 
that size. 
 
John Dowen, 1410 E. Hibbard Road, stated he worked at Brady’s all through high school and 
so did his two sisters.  It would be a sin to take away the parking lot from that building 
because a business will not survive without parking. 
 
Judy Horton, 315 N. Dutcher Street, stated she would like to know how many people here 
tonight and who live in the city would support a millage or a bond issue to help the 
community center.  The result was 50/50 and she suggested putting it on the ballot in 
November.  The council would find out how many people are really interested in supporting 
the community center.  She advised her husband has a backhoe and can clear the dirt around 
the community center at no charge to the city.  She and her husband do a lot of volunteering.  
She started volunteering when the playscape was built and there were around 150 volunteers 
who worked on it.   
 
Rachael Wineland, 470 E. McArthur Street, stated she read in the newspaper that it will cost 
$100,000 to repair the community center and if there was a millage, it would cost a property 
owner $10 per year.  If the community center does not have the support of the residents and 
the city council then it is not going to work because it is going to take a team effort from 
everyone.  The city council is supposed to be the representatives of the community at large. 
 
Merilee Lawson stated it is a city planner’s dream to have this many people interested in the 
city and she thanked everyone for coming to the meeting tonight and for volunteering.   
 
Gene Sanderson questioned who would be responsible for insuring the volunteers if someone 
should drop a hammer on someone’s head.             
 



 

Sharon Morehouse stated she did not think anyone thanked the council for raising the water 
bill.   
 
Theresa Pickler stated she would like people who are interested in saving the community 
center to put their name and phone number on a piece of paper before leaving tonight so 
everyone can keep in touch. 
 
Keith Johnson suggested getting numbers from Mr. Sawyer on what the community center 
has cost sine in was built in the 1930’s.  He asked if it would cost $250,000 to bring it up to 
code.  Mr. Sawyer advised he did not think that figure would cover everything.  Mr. Johnson 
asked how many people think they would get a return back on that building if they invested 
$250,000 of their own money into the building.   
 
Jennifer Lawson, 503 N. Brady Street, asked if there was a building appropriation fund in the 
budget for the community center or has everything been spent.  Mr. Sawyer advised the city 
has resources but there is more needs than there is money.  Ms. Lawson stated she has asked 
about renting the community center for her church but it is not wheelchair accessible.  The 
community center could be rented out almost every weekend if it were a nice facility.  She 
asked how many people have looked at the proposed design on the city’s website that Jed 
Dingens did because it is very beautiful.  She grew up in Flint and they do not have a building 
like this.  She is willing to be on a committee and willing to volunteer.                    

 
Mayor Kerridge asked Mr. Sawyer if a committee could be set up.  Mr. Sawyer advised 
people can meet on their own or the council can appoint people.  Mayor Kerridge asked 
council if they had any objections to a committee being formed.  Council had no objections.  
Ms. Lawson stated it is her understanding the community center will close July 5th and asked 
that the community center stay open until the volunteers can get things around.    

 
ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSION:  Councilperson Hall advised she had nothing to discuss. 
 

Councilperson Haskins advised the airport is getting an inspection from the FAA.  If the 
airport did not have its volunteer base, it would not function.  He further advised Mr. Johnson 
and Ms. Horton both volunteer and have opposing opinions on the community center but they 
have the background to back up their thoughts.  If someone wants to volunteer, they have to 
follow through with the commitment because it is like a job that the person is not being paid 
for. 

 
Councilperson Johnson advised she would like to answer Mr. Sanderson’s question that he 
asked earlier.  Anytime a resident comes to a council meeting, the council has to listen to 
every single person out there and she is going to.  It may not be the answer he wants, but it is 
the answer he will get from her.  She further advised everyone thinks council is awful.  There 
were three people who voted no and fingers are being pointed are every single council person 
and that is not fair.  She is against the community center because there are people that had to 
be laid off that she wishes could be brought back.  The department of public works had to lay 
off an employee who helped mow grass in the cemetery and she has had complaints about 
how bad it looks.  She cannot put any money towards saving the community center because 



 

she wants to bring the people back that are laid off.  She does not have a problem with a 
committee being formed, but does not like seeing fingers pointed at every person sitting up 
here.      

 
Councilperson Jessen stated he agreed with Councilperson Johnson.  He does not think 
anyone wants to see the community center closed or torn down, but it is a question of money.  
As far as what his job as a councilperson is, he disagrees that he should vote for what the 
people want.  He listens to everyone and makes his own judgments because that is what he 
was elected to do.  He has heard from a very small percent of the people in the community 
and he cannot base his judgment on that.  He has to vote what he feels.  

 
Councilperson Mehigh thanked everyone for coming tonight.  It is always informative for the 
council. 

 
Mayor Kerridge thanked everyone who is either for or against the community center.  He 
would like to see the committee get the funding because the city does not have the money for 
it.  He stated the committee has some real hard work to do and he would back them all the 
way.  He further stated he will volunteer as he said he would.   
 

ADJOURN:  Jessen moved, Johnson seconded to adjourn. 
 Roll call vote: 
 Yes: Mehigh, Jessen, Hall, Johnson, Haskins. 

No: None. 
  Motion CARRIED  Time was 8:35 p.m.     
 

 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Chuck Kerridge, Mayor    Nichole L. Cowdrey, City Clerk/Treasurer 


